FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/29/2021 4:31 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/1/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100340-4
(COA No. 80843-5-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON

IN RE: DETENTION OF

THOMAS QUINN,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR
SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Thomas Quinn, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Quinn seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals dated August 2, 2021, for which reconsideration was denied on September 29, 2021. Copies are attached as Appendix A and B.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Before civilly committing someone under RCW ch. 71.09, principles of due process require the State to prove the person is currently dangerous based on recent behavior. The State avoids proving this essential element to a unanimous jury beyond a reasonable doubt only when a judge finds this element has been established as a matter of law. To take this issue away from the jury, the factual basis of the recent overt

act must have been either already proven in an underlying case or based on undisputed facts.

Thomas Quinn had not been recently convicted of the necessary overt act. While he possessed two images of child pornography, he explained these pictures were in the back of a drawer for a long time and otherwise disputed the State's allegations. The trial court relied on these contested claims to rule the State proved a recent overt act as a matter of law, removing this element from the jury's consideration. In an indefinite civil commitment prosecution, does it violate due process for the trial court to relieve the State of its burden of proving an essential element to a unanimous jury based on the judge's view of contested factual allegations?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thomas Quinn was 46 years old when the State filed its petition for civil commitment under RCW ch. 71.09. CP 273, 576. He has an intellectual disability with an IQ measured at

60. 2RP 16; 7RP 639; 11RP 1174. He has a very limited ability to read and write. 2RP 16.

When the State filed its petition, Mr. Quinn was serving an 84-month sentence for two counts of possession of a photograph of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 426. These charges stemmed from two photographs the police found in a drawer in his bedroom. CP 306, 377. Mr. Quinn pled guilty to these two counts in 2010. CP 306.

The State agreed it needed to prove Mr. Quinn committed a recent overt act to meet the due process requirements of civil commitment because Mr. Quinn was not incarcerated for a sexually violent offense at the time the State filed its petition. CP 425, 427; 2RP 7, 9. It asked the court to find this element was established as a matter of law instead of submitting the recent overt act element to the jury. CP 425-563.

Mr. Quinn's only convictions for acts that qualify as a "sexually violent offense" necessary for civil commitment occurred when he was 21 years old, in 1993. At that time, his

girlfriend was babysitting two seven-year-old sisters. 2RP 8; 7RP 534. The girls said Mr. Quinn sexually touched them at the same time. CP 428; 7RP 538-39. Mr. Quinn entered an *Alford*¹ plea to two counts of child molestation in the first degree. CP 446; 7RP 541-42. He received a sentence of nine years in prison. CP 429. When questioned about this incident in the deposition the State relied upon to prove the threshold questions regarding his commitment, Mr. Quinn said he spanked the girls and did not otherwise touch them, but he “took the deal.” CP 351-52.

A second incident occurred in 2004 that does not qualify as the statutorily required sexually violent offense. At that time, Mr. Quinn was living in an apartment complex with his wife and met a 15-year-old who was staying with her aunt. CP 358-59; 7RP 579-80. One day, the teenager fought with her aunt and left her apartment. 7RP 582. She saw Mr. Quinn and he

¹ *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

invited her to his apartment. 7RP 582. Once there, he rubbed the outside of her clothing, but she said “no” to further contact and left when he fell asleep. 7RP 584-85. Mr. Quinn entered an *Alford* plea to one count of assault in the third degree and one count of unlawful imprisonment for this incident. CP 362; 5RP 402-03. He received a 22-month sentence. CP 430. In the deposition the State relied upon to prove a recent overt act, Mr. Quinn denied touching her. CP 358-60, 362.

The act on which the State relied to bypass the jury’s determination of a recent overt act occurred in 2010, when two officers came to Mr. Quinn’s apartment for a routine check to verify his address as required by his sex offender registration obligation. CP 376; 6RP 472. Just a few days before, Mr. Quinn’s mother had unexpectedly died and Mr. Quinn was extremely distraught. 6RP 422. Her death caused him to relapse after several years of sobriety and he had used marijuana and methamphetamine. CP 376-77. The officers smelled marijuana and saw that Mr. Quinn, who was wearing only underwear,

seemed intoxicated. CP 366. Mr. Quinn admitted he had some drugs in his home. *Id.*

The police obtained a search warrant for drugs and in a drawer, they found some photographs of children in sexually explicit poses. 6RP 476, 480-81. They also found some children's toys and girl's underwear. CP 434. Mr. Quinn explained these items belonged to a friend from church who was storing possessions in his apartment. CP 382. As a result of this incident, Mr. Quinn was convicted for possessing two pictures the police found when searching his apartment. CP 377.

The State filed its petition to civilly commit him when he was serving the sentence imposed for this conviction. CP 576.

After a pretrial hearing, the court ruled that Mr. Quinn's 2010 convictions for possessing the two images of child pornography constituted a recent overt act as a matter of law so the State did not need to prove this element to the jury at the commitment trial. 2RP 17; CP 273-77.

The jury was not asked to consider whether Mr. Quinn committed a recent overt act. CP 277. It found the State met its burden of proving Mr. Quinn satisfied the remaining criteria for commitment. CP 19.

E. ARGUMENT

By allowing the trial court to resolve a contested element of commitment instead of the jury, the Court of Appeals deprived Mr. Quinn of his right to trial by unanimous jury and relieved the State of its burden of proof

1. The right to trial by jury demands jurors resolve contested factual issues regarding essential elements.

The “core” of “the right of trial by jury guarantees litigants the right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts.” *Furnstahl v. Barr*, 197 Wn. App. 168, 175, 389 P.3d 635 (2016). “[I]n keeping with the principles enshrined in Washington’s Constitution, in a jury trial, it is the jury who must declare the facts found to be proved.” *Id.* at 176; Const. art. I, § 21.

It is the jury's role, "under the constitution" to "weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn2d 636, 646, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). Neither this Court nor the legislature may "encroach upon constitutional protections" and deny litigants "an essential function of the jury." *Id.* at 651.

Even a "'mixed question of law and fact,' has typically been resolved by juries" historically. *United States v. Gaudin*, 515 U.S. 506, 511-12, 516, 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1995).

2. *Proof of a recent overt act is an essential element of civil commitment by statute and as a matter of due process.*

Involuntary civil commitment is a massive curtailment of the fundamental right to liberty that triggers strict due process protections. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d (1979); *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 732, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art, I, § 3. For civil commitment to satisfy due process, it must

be predicated on a narrowly tailored statutory scheme that ensures the individual is currently both mentally ill and dangerous. *In re Det. of Albrecht*, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002).

In *In re Det. of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 41, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), this Court ruled that for civil commitment under RCW 71.09 to satisfy the constitutional requirements of due process, the State must prove a person's present dangerousness rests on a recent overt act. This proof "is necessary" to satisfy due process. *Id.* After *Young*, the legislature added a recent overt act requirement for anyone who has been released from total confinement after committing a sexually violent offense. RCW 71.09.030(1)(e).

If a person has been released from confinement and is living in the community at the time the State seeks civil commitment, the State must prove at the commitment trial, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the person committed a recent overt act. *Id.*; see RCW 71.09.060(1). A person is not

“currently dangerous” as required for civil commitment if the person has been free in the community and is “subsequently incarcerated for an act that would not in itself qualify as an overt act.” *Albrecht*, 147 Wn. 2d at 8.

A recent overt act is an act or threat that “has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors.” RCW 71.09.020(12).

Several Court of Appeals cases hold that the State may avoid a jury trial on this element if it presents undisputed facts that meet the element of a recent overt act as a matter of law. *See In re Det. of Leck*, 180 Wn. App. 492, 509-10, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014) (court relied “only on uncontroverted facts” in making its recent overt act ruling); *In re Det. of Brown*, 154 Wn. App. 116, 127-28, 225 P.3d 1028 (2010) (court relied on “undisputed facts” to determine whether convictions for seven counts of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in

sexually explicit conduct satisfied recent overt act definition); *In re Det. of Hovinga*, 132 Wn. App. 16, 24, 130 P.3d 830 (2006) (relying on the defendant's numerous factual admissions to find a recent overt act); *see also In re Det. of Jones*, 193 Wn. App. 1038, 2016 WL 1643060, *9-10 (2016) (unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1) (holding that because it had "sketchy facts" and no "testimony under oath," jury must decide whether there was a recent over act).

Similarly, in *In re Det. of Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 158-59, 125 P.3d 111 (2005), the defendant had been convicted after trial of third degree rape against an adult with a severe developmental disability. He had numerous prior sexually violent convictions. *Id.* at 153-54, 159. Based on the allegations proved at trial for the underlying third degree rape, coupled with his lengthy uncontested history of sexual assaults on children and his admitted fantasies, the court found he committed a recent overt act and did not need to separately plead and prove this element of commitment. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals impermissibly extended the reasoning of those cases to Mr. Quinn's case, authorizing the trial court to rely on contested, disputed factual allegations even though no jury had ever found Mr. Quinn committed the conduct necessary for a recent overt act and he expressly disputed these allegations in the record before the court. Slip op. at 8-10.

The court's authority to remove the mandatory recent overt act finding from the jury is limited to the established record of proven facts from prior convictions. Here, the State presented unproven, disputed allegations to the court in its motion for a recent overt act ruling. CP 428-37, 493-96. The court listed many of these unproven allegations and disputed facts in its ruling that relieved the State of its burden to prove a recent overt act to the jury. *See* CP 274-76; 2RP 14-17.

The State had to prove his behavior constituted a recent overt act as an essential element of his commitment and to a unanimous jury. CP 246, 420-24; 2RP 13. Mr. Quinn disputed

the critical facts on which the court relied. CP 274-76; 2RP 14-17. He explained he possessed the suspicious materials innocently and had done nothing dangerous or threatening to anyone at any recent time while in the community. *See, e.g.*, CP 377, 381-84.

The two images he was convicted of possessing were in a drawer. CP 377. They had date stamps indicating the images were taken years earlier. CP 424; 2RP 13. Mr. Quinn had been living in the community for several years and was not accused of committing in sexually violent conduct during that time. There was no evidence that possessing two images of pornography triggered him to act in a sexually violent manner. On the contrary, he possessed the images for a long time and had not acted in sexually violent manner. 2RP 13. Mr. Quinn's 2010 convictions for having two illicit images of children do not constitute harm of a sexually violent nature as a matter of law. He was entitled to demand the State prove this essential element of his commitment to the jury.

3. *This Court should review the violation of Mr. Quinn's due process right to have contested, material facts proven to a jury.*

As a matter of due process, the State must establish a recent overt act as a predicate to a constitutionally valid commitment when a person is not incarcerated for a sexually violent offense at the time the State seeks commitment. *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 27, 41; *Marshall*, 158 Wn.2d at 157.

And Mr. Quinn “is entitled to a jury determination of his status” as a person who meets the criteria for commitment and the State’s “burden of proof is beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Brotten*, 115 Wn. App. at 257 n.3. He has a right to a unanimous jury finding involving the contested allegations essential to the lawfulness of his commitment. RCW 71.09.060(1). Article I, section 21 strongly protects this jury trial right. *Furnstahl*, 197 Wn. App. at 175.

The court is not permitted to substitute its judgment of contested allegations. *Id.* Here, the jury was not required to find Mr. Quinn was currently dangerous based on a recent overt act.

Due process requires the State to prove this contested issue to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals decision diluting Mr. Quinn's jury trial rights.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Thomas Quinn respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Counsel certifies this document contains 2471 words and complies with RAP 18.7(b).