FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2021 11:57 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1003404

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

THOMAS QUINN,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS Assistant Attorney General WSBA #47175 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Ph.: (206) 389-3001 OID #91094

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Quinn seeks review under RAP 13.4(b), but he does not cite any particular subsection of that rule. Pet. for Review at 1, 15. His petition should thus be denied because he fails to establish that any of the exclusive grounds for review are satisfied. In any event, for the reasons discussed below, review is unwarranted under any of subsection of RAP 13.4(b).

A. Quinn Failed to Preserve the Sole Issue Presented in This Appeal

Quinn's sole argument is that it was improper for the trial court to make the recent overt act determination. *See* Pet. for Review at 1-2, 7-8, 14-15. He claims that the trial court's ruling violated due process, deprived him of his right to a trial by a unanimous jury, and relieved the State of its burden of proof because it was based on "contested" factual allegations. *See id.* None of these arguments were asserted in the trial court, and thus, Quinn failed to preserve this challenge for appeal.

"A party has the obligation to assert its claims, legal positions, and arguments to the trial court to preserve the alleged error on appeal." Ashcraft v. Wallingford, 17 Wn. App. 853, 860, 565 P.2d 1224 (1977). "The general rule in Washington is that a party's failure to raise an issue at trial waives the issue on appeal unless the party can show the presence of a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right." State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Kirwin, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009)). The purpose of issue preservation is "to encourage 'the efficient use of judicial resources." Id. (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)). "Issue preservation serves this purpose by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals." *Id.* at 304-05.

Here, Quinn did not object to the trial court making a pretrial ruling about whether his convictions for possession of sexually explicit images of children constituted a recent overt act.

Although Quinn argued that the State should have to prove a recent overt act to the jury at trial, this argument appeared to be based on Quinn's claim that the State's evidence was insufficient to show that his 2010 convictions qualified. *See* CP at 423-24. Moreover, Quinn expressly acknowledged in his briefing and at the hearing that it was the trial court's role to make a pretrial determination about the 2010 convictions. *See id.* at 423; VRP (Vol. 2) at 11. This is reflected in the trial court's oral ruling when the court stated: "[A]s *the parties* have identified, it is the Court's responsibility to determine whether Mr. Quinn's possession of child pornography represents a recent overt act." VRP (Vol. 2) at 13-14 (emphasis added).

In addition, as discussed more fully below, Quinn never contested any of the factual allegations relied on by the State. Nor did he claim that the trial court could not rely on the documentation provided by the State when making the recent overt act determination.

In short, Quinn failed to preserve the arguments he now makes on appeal. He also fails to establish that his challenge falls within the narrow exceptions that permit courts to reach claims not properly preserved below. *See* RAP 2.5(a). This Court should deny review of Quinn's unpreserved arguments.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Resolve Contested Factual Issues

Quinn's challenge also fails on its merits. His entire claim of error rests on the false premise that the trial court relied on "contested, disputed factual allegations." Pet. for Review at 12. Quinn does not identify any factual allegations that he allegedly disputed but instead just provides a citation to the trial court's entire ruling. *See id.* at 12, 13 (citing CP at 274-76; VRP (Vol. 2) at 14-17). In any event, Quinn's claim that the trial court relied on contested facts is belied by the record.

1. Quinn never contested any factual allegations in the trial court

Contrary to his claims on appeal, Quinn did not "expressly dispute" any factual allegations in the trial court. *See* Pet. for

Review at 12. In response to the State's motion, Quinn argued only that his conduct did not constitute a recent overt act because it was "ongoing for 4-5 years and did not result in any type of sexually violent behavior." CP at 424; see also VRP (Vol. 2) at 13. Essentially, Quinn's argument was focused solely on whether the underlying conduct satisfied the statutory definition of a "recent overt act." It was not focused on whether Quinn actually engaged in the conduct itself. At no point in the briefing or argument did Quinn's attorney dispute any of the underlying factual allegations or argue that the court should not consider the documentation submitted by the State. See CP at 420-24; VRP (Vol. 2). Nor did Quinn's attorney ever request a hearing for the trial court to resolve any allegedly disputed facts. See id.

Quinn's claims to the contrary are not borne out by the record. His citations on this point are merely to his deposition transcript, not to any briefing or argument by his attorney. Pet. for Review at 12-13 (citing CP at 377, 381-84). But Quinn's answers in a deposition are not legal argument, and the briefing

and argument submitted by his attorney in no way suggested that any facts were in dispute. See CP at 420-24; VRP (Vol. 2) at 11-13. Moreover, even the deposition testimony itself fails to support this claim, as Quinn expressly admitted in the deposition that he possessed the items in question. See CP at 377-88. His explanations for why he possessed the items does not establish any dispute about whether he possessed them. In short, the record does not support Quinn's claim that he "disputed the critical facts on which the court relied." Pet. for Review at 12-13.

2. Quinn pled guilty to the charges resulting from the factual allegations and admitted in his plea statement that the allegations could be relied on to establish the factual basis for his plea

Additionally, Quinn's suggestion that the facts were disputed because "no jury had ever found [that he] committed the conduct necessary for a recent overt act" is misleading. Pet. for Review at 12. The reason that Quinn's 2010 case did not proceed to a jury trial is because Quinn pled guilty to the charges. A plea agreement has the same effect as a jury determination. *See Woods v. Rhay*, 68 Wn.2d 601, 605, 414 P.2d 601 (1966) (A

guilty plea "is a confession of guilt and the result equivalent to a conviction.").

Critically, in his plea statement, Quinn admitted in his own words that he possessed sexually explicit images of children. CP at 465. He also expressly agreed that the affidavit of probable cause—which contained other factual allegations relied on by the trial court—could be considered to establish the factual basis for his plea. *Id.* Quinn provides no reason why the trial court in this sexually violent predator proceeding could not also rely on the affidavit of probable cause as providing the factual basis for Quinn's 2010 convictions.

In short, not only did Quinn fail to contest any of the factual allegations in the trial court, but he also pled guilty to the underlying conduct. He thus fails to show that the trial court relied on "disputed" factual allegations. Consequently, the trial court's ruling was proper because—by Quinn's own admission—a trial court can make a pretrial recent overt act determination if "the factual basis of the recent overt act [was]

either already proven in an underlying case or based on undisputed facts." Pet. for Review at 1-2; *see also id.* at 10 (claiming that "the State may avoid a jury trial on this element if it presents undisputed facts that meet the element of a recent overt act as a matter of law"). Put simply, the trial court did not err.

C. The Decision in this Case is Consistent with Well-Settled Precedent From this Court and with Decisions From the Court of Appeals

Review of this unpublished decision is also unwarranted because it is entirely consistent with well-settled precedent from this Court and with other decisions from the Court of Appeals.

Quinn provides no basis for this Court to depart from those cases.

1. This Court's decision in *Marshall* establishes that the trial court—not the jury—determines whether an individual is currently incarcerated for a recent overt act

Seventeen years ago, in *Marshall v. State*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 158, 125 P.3d 111 (2005), this Court set forth the applicable test to determine whether an individual is currently incarcerated for an act that qualifies as a "recent overt act." In doing so, it

expressly stated that this inquiry "is for the court, not a jury." *Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d at 158.

Over the years, dozens of decisions have confirmed this holding. See, e.g., In re Det. of Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 508, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014); Brown, 154 Wn. App. at 123; Froats v. State, 134 Wn. App. 420, 431, 140 P.3d 622 (2006); In re Det. of Hovinga, 132 Wn. App. 16, 23, 130 P.3d 830 (2006). The decision in this case is no exception. As the Court of Appeals expressly recognized, "whether an act qualifies as a recent overt act, as defined in.09.020(13), is a question for the court to decide." Slip op. at 4 (footnote omitted).

Quinn argues that the Court of Appeals erred "[b]y allowing the trial court to resolve a contested element of commitment instead of a jury." Pet. for Review at 7. But his argument that the jury—not the trial court—should have made this determination is directly contrary to this well-established case law. And Quinn provides no argument that those decisions

were improperly decided or that they are incorrect and harmful.

Thus, this argument should be rejected.

2. Decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals instruct trial courts to consider "the factual circumstances of the individual's history and mental condition"

Trial courts determine whether an individual is currently incarcerated for an act that qualifies as a recent overt act by applying a two-step analysis. *Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d at 158. The trial court first makes an inquiry into "the factual circumstances of the individual's history and mental condition." *Id.* Second, the court makes a legal inquiry "as to whether an objective person knowing the factual circumstances of the individual's history and mental condition would have a reasonable apprehension that the individual's act would cause harm of a sexually violent nature." *Id.*

Decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals establish that trial courts can consider a range of evidence when conducting the factual inquiry under the first prong. For example, in *Marshall*, this Court considered the facts alleged in the

charging document and proved at the rape trial as well as Marshall's history of offenses and mental condition. 156 Wn.2d at 159. Similarly, in *State v. McNutt*, 124 Wn. App. 344, 350-51, 101 P.3d 422 (2004), the Court of Appeals considered McNutt's mental diagnoses and offending history as well as the factual allegations resulting in an *Alford* plea. Likewise, in *In re Detention of Hovinga*, 132 Wn. App. 16, 24, 130 P.3d 830 (2006), the Court of Appeals considered not only the facts underlying the act for which Hovinga was incarcerated but also his history and mental condition.

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is wholly consistent with those decisions. It held that when conducting the factual inquiry into the person's history and mental condition, a trial court "can consider the entire record of an alleged SVP's established convictions" and "is free to consider more than a verdict form or stipulated facts in a plea agreement." Slip op. at 1, 8.

Quinn claims that "[s]everal Court of Appeals cases hold that the State may avoid a jury trial on this element if it presents undisputed facts to meet the element of a recent overt act as a matter of law." Pet. for Review at 10. He further claims that the Court of Appeals erred in this case by "impermissibly extend[ing] the reasoning of those cases" and "authorizing the trial court to rely on contested, disputed factual allegations." *Id.* at 12. These claims fail for two reasons.

First, Quinn fails to establish that trial courts are limited to considering only undisputed facts when making a recent overt act determination. Quinn cites four cases in support of this proposition. Pet. for Review at 10 (citing *Leck*, 180 Wn. App. at 509-10; *Brown*, 154 Wn. App. at 127-28; *Hovinga*, 132 Wn. App. at 24; *In re Det. of*, 193 Wn. App. 1038, 2016 WL 1643060, *9-10 (2016) (unpublished)). But while some of those decisions involved courts relying solely on undisputed facts, none of them expressly prohibit courts from considering other facts or stand for the proposition that it would ever be the jury's role to

determine whether an individual is currently incarcerated for a recent overt act. Further, Quinn's argument is inconsistent with *McNutt*, which noted that even an *Alford* plea "does not change the nature of the trial court's inquiry into [an offender's] history." 124 Wn. App. at 350.

Second, and more importantly, the Court of Appeals did not "authorize" trial courts to rely on disputed facts in this case. The court's opinion held only that a trial court can consider "the entire record of [a sexually violent predator's] *established convictions* when weighing this question." Slip op. at 1 (emphasis added); *see also id.* at 8-9. The Court of Appeals had no reason to address whether trial courts can rely on disputed facts because, as discussed earlier, the trial court did not rely on disputed facts in this case.

3. The unpublished decision involved a straightforward application of established legal principles and reached the right conclusion

The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Quinn's convictions for possession of sexually

explicit images of minors constituted a recent overt act. Quinn's possession of such materials creates a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature in the mind of an objective person who knows of Quinn's history and mental condition.

Quinn has been diagnosed with pedophilic disorder, antisocial personality disorder, an intellectual disability, and substance use disorders. CP at 274. He is an untreated sex offender who has declined to participate in treatment and has poor impulse control. VRP (Vol. 2) at 17. He has multiple prior convictions for sexual offenses against children. He pled guilty to two counts of child molestation in the first degree for offenses against seven-year-old girls. CP at 274. He also pled guilty to assault in the third degree, and unlawful imprisonment for offenses against a 15-year-old girl. *Id*.

With respect to the recent overt act, Quinn pled guilty to two counts of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, which are acts of a criminal sexual nature against children. CP at 276. He expressly admitted to possessing a photo "that depicted a minor engaged in actual or simulated urination" and a photo "that depicted actual or simulated genitals and unclothed pubic and rectal areas of a minor and unclothed breast of a female minor for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer." *Id.* The photos were folded up and worn, making it appear as though they had been viewed numerous times. *Id.* at 275. Additionally, Quinn possessed even more sexually explicit images of children along with girls' underwear, dozens of scraps of paper bearing female names and social networking screen names, and numerous children's toys. *Id.* He also had taken photographs of neighborhood children from his window. *Id.*

Even if this Court were to disregard any allegedly disputed facts and limit its analysis to the admissions in Quinn's plea agreement, the conclusion of the trial court and the Court of Appeals would still be proper. Quinn's admissions that he possessed images of children for his own sexual gratification, together with the undisputed facts about Quinn's prior offenses

and mental condition, independently support the conclusion that he committed a recent overt act.

Quinn claims that "there was no evidence that possessing two images of pornography triggered him to act in a sexually violent manner." Pet. for Review at 13. But as the Court of Appeals properly recognized, that is not the correct legal standard. Slip op. at 9. The relevant inquiry is whether Quinn's possession of such materials creates a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature in the mind of an objective person who knows of Quinn's history and mental condition. Both the trial court and Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Quinn's possession of sexually explicit images of children qualified as a recent overt act.

///

///

///

///

///

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Quinn's petition for review.

This document contains 4949 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.